UNIVERSITY OF MISKOLC FACULTY OF ECONOMICS

HANTOR ELEMÉR DOCTORAL SCHOOL OF BUSINESS AND REGIONAL SCIENCE



TAMÁS FALUDI

IMPROVING THE EFFECTIVENESS OF SUPPLY CHAIN COORDINATION AT THE LEVEL OF STRATEGIC DECISIONS

Thesis of the doctoral dissertation

Head of the Doctoral School: **Dr. Prof. Tamás Sikos T.**

Scientific Supervisior: Dr. Prof. Károly Balaton

MISKOLC 2023

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
1.1 The relevance of the topic	1
1.2 Research objectives and questions	2
1.3 Summary the literature review	3
1.4 Hypotheses	4
2. Research methodology	
3. Research results	9
3.1. Results of PRISMA and the questionnaire survey	9
3.2. Testing hypotheses and forumlating theses	13
4. Summary	
Literature used in the thesis booklet	
Author's relevant publications	
Other publications of the author	

List of Figures

Figure 1: Hypotheses	6
Figure 2: Structure of the questionnaire survey	
Figure 3: The identified clusters and their names	9
Figure 4: Notations used in the matrix	10
Figure 5: Contract-choosing matrix	12
Figure 6: Results of hypothesis testing	14

1. Introduction

The doctoral thesis focuses on improving the success of supply chain coordination. Supply chain coordination is one of the most important areas of supply chain management today. The practice and research of supply chain management goes back several decades. In the 20th century, the concept was closely related to logistics, but with subsequent differentiation, it has steadily gained independence and has evolved into a much larger field, involving both internal processes, mainly of a logistical nature, and external processes, focusing on inter-company partnerships, material and information flows.

1.1 The relevance of the topic

According to the GDP data for 2019, supply chain management activities such as transport and warehousing or trade, which is in fact also closely linked to transport functions and thus to the supply chain, play an important role in the economies of different countries. A company analysis shows that the transport activities sector accounts for 5% of global GDP and employs a large number of workers (EU Science Hub, 2020). The share of GDP accounted for by trade has also been growing relatively steadily since the early 1970s. Thus, in 2018, trade accounted for 59% of GDP (The World Bank, 2020). Global trade has started to grow after the global decline caused by the pandemic. Exceeding forecasts, global trade grew by 13% in 2021 compared to the pre-pandemic period in 2019 (UNCTAD, 2022). Although growth slowed in the first quarter of 2022, analysis suggests that a strong increase is also expected in the following period (Trademagazin & Evans, 2021; UNCTAD, 2022). The European Union has also been able to overcome the negative effects of the pandemic, with a positive trade balance in 2021 and a share in global trade of exactly 0.4% (UNCTAD, 2022). Even in Hungary, there were relatively few sectors whose volume indices were clearly increasing, but transport and storage was one of them, according to the HCSO (2020). Of course, the pandemic also had an impact in this area and a sharp decline was recorded in 2020, but the data for 2021 gave cause for optimism (KSH, 2022). Growth and its rate are also influenced by the companies involved in supply chains and the environment surrounding them. The EU's objectives include protecting global supply chains, enhancing food security so that access to basic foodstuffs is not a problem in any EU country (European Commission, 2015 and 2022; Enterprise Europe Network, 2022). In addition, Hungary is home to subsidiaries of many foreign-owned companies - companies active in the automotive sector (e.g. Bosch), chemicals (e.g. BorsodChem) or other important sectors. Hungarian subsidiaries are also the part of global supply chains, so it is a cardinal issue that Hungarian companies are able to manage their supply chains. However, the operation and management of supply chains was greatly hampered first by the COVID-19 pandemic and later by the supply problems caused by the Russian-Ukrainian war. These crises could lead to an increase in the demand for flexible supply chains (which will trigger an even stronger presence of digitalisation and thus its development) and, contrary to the trend so far, to shorter supply chains (Hausmann, 2020; Goreczky 2022).

The literature on supply chain management has also shown a growing trend in recent years, which also means that both business and academia have become interested in the field of supply chain management (Xue et al, Within this, there has also been an increase in the number of publications dealing with coordination, specifically the coordination mechanisms with contract types have been and continue to be the focus of research (Li & Liu, 2006; Shin & Benton, 2007; Coltman et al., 2009; Zhang, 2011; Cai et al., 2020; Li et al., 2021; Vipin & Amit, 2021).

Globalisation, outsourcing of various logistics processes and the expansion of supply chains into networks have made it important to manage the coordination between partners as efficiently as possible (Demeter & Szász, 2012). The aim of supply chain coordination is to harmonise the processes of cooperating companies and to achieve a more efficient flow of information and information sharing. For this, partner relationship management is the most commonly used approach, which aims to establish a cooperative relationship between chain members based on the longest possible duration and the highest possible level of trust.

The growing interest in the literature, reflected in the increasing number of relevant publications year after year, and the increasing awareness of supply chain management in companies, have made this topic one of the most important areas of expertise in the 21st century. Partnerships are one of the keys to achieving good coordination, which is why it is necessary to find the most up-to-date and up-to-date information to improve the effectiveness of coordination. The aim of this thesis is to analyse the relevant literature on the subject, which will help us to understand the importance and the main characteristics of supply chain coordination. Then, my aim is to examine the aspects and considerations for improving supply chain coordination at the strategic decision-making level and to support more successful and efficient coordination by means of supply chain contracts.

1.2 Research objectives and questions

For the frame model defined as the aim of this thesis to work, it is necessary to identify the behavioural patterns and attitudes towards cooperation that characterise partnerships and the factors that influence the choice of partners. This will help to identify the preferred form of cooperation of each company. Contracts that can be applied to supply chains can be used to support the establishment and maintenance of the preferred form of cooperation. The long term positive effects of this can be realised not only for the cooperating companies but also for the whole supply chain.

Thus, my aim is to understand the conditions and possibilities of using the most commonly used types of contracts, and then to analyse the real behaviour patterns of companies through a sample, which will help to identify the factors and differences in the choice of partners in companies. Using the two sets of information, I will construct a matrix that will represent a model that can recommend a contract that facilitates and improves coordination for a given preference.

Thus, in line with the research objectives, my first research question concerns the exploration of the characteristics of partnerships:

1. What are the characteristics of partnerships between members of the supply chain?

A high level of cooperation between chain members is essential for the efficient management and effective functioning of supply chains. Coordination between members can be improved by developing different forms of relationships. However, companies prefer different forms of cooperation, depending on their attitudes, in terms of scope, duration and depth. For successful research, factors that may influence the choice of partners by supply chain members need to be identified. The identification of the characteristics of the partner relationships will provide information that can be used to typify and possibly rank the partner selection factors of individual companies and chain members. I assume that the level of prices will be a major

influencing factor in a partner selection situation. However, many other factors may also play an important role, for example, many firms may be interested in flexibility in delivery terms, or perhaps in fixed payment terms. The first research question focuses on the examination of these factors.

2. What are the tools that can be used to coordinate supply chains?

One important area of supply chain management is supply chain coordination. It aims to ensure alignment between partners, support collaboration, and effectively link the value-creating processes of companies to ensure that the flow of information and materials between members is unimpeded. The range of coordination possibilities is very large, but it should be noted that they fall into two broad categories. The hard factors seek to facilitate coordination by solving the financing problems of the relationships. The soft factors are the attitudes and behaviours of individual companies. Both groups are an important part of the issue of improving coordination. Thus, two further sub-questions are included in research question 2.

- 2.1. What role do soft tools play in supply chain coordination?
- 2.2. What types of contracts can be used to coordinate the supply chains?

The analysis of soft factors is important, as trust, motivation, dominance, for example, are all factors that are reflected in the attitudes of a company and have a greater or lesser influence on the attitude of the organisation towards a potential partner candidate. This will also contribute to the type and duration of the partnership that the organisation will prefer to establish. Among the hard factors, the analysis of the potential for coordination with contract types is the most prominent in the international literature and is the subject of this thesis. In the literature review, it is necessary to identify the types of contracts that are most frequently encountered as research topics, i.e. those that are most frequently used.

3. How can the types of contracts described in the literature be applied in the context of improving partnerships with different time horizons?

The identification of the characteristics of partnerships reveals the factors that are important for companies when choosing partners and concluding cooperation agreements. In order to coordinate and harmonise these factors, it is necessary to examine the application of the types of contracts in the supply chain. In this way, it is possible to identify how the expectations of partners are reflected in the contracts. The contracts most commonly used in the literature can be used to help the supply chain members to apply a contract with the conditions that meet their expectations and attitudes.

1.3 Summary the literature review

Supply chain management is a popular topic today, and many publications have been published on the subject over the years.

One of the most important milestones in supply chain management was the separation from logistics. In the 1980s, logistics was almost the only field of logistics, and later the concept of supply chains emerged, which then brought supply chain management with it (Pounder, 2013). Supply chains can be understood as the linking of value-creating processes in a company, in which case we speak of value-creating processes when they create value realized by customers

(Chikán, 2020). These value-creating processes form Porter's value chain, which is the set of processes that contribute directly and indirectly to value creation (Porter, 1985). Porter's concept can be seen as a precursor to the concept of supply chains. At that time, however, the concept of supply chain was not at all widespread and was in fact used as a synonym for logistics (Lamber et al, 1998). However, the CSCMP has formally defined supply chain management and logistics to clarify the responsibilities of the two areas: supply chain management encompasses all planning and management processes, including purchasing, processing and all logistics processes, and includes coordination and collaboration mechanisms between all partner companies within the chain, which may be suppliers, intermediaries, distributors or buyers (CSCMP Bylaws, 2013).

The rise of supply chain management has been fuelled by the increasing effects of globalisation, outsourcing, the rapid development of the IT sector and the rapidly changing market environment, which has been greatly influenced by the dynamic changes in customer needs (Demeter et al, Supply chains have become more and more extensive, with more and more links, often across continents, within a chain. Hence the emergence of network perceptions in supply chains, and by the 2010s supply chains were more network-like than chains in the traditional sense (Gao et al., 2018; Xue et al., 2022). Thus, the large number of chain members made the coordination of value-creating processes in companies very challenging for supply chain management. For this reason, supply chain coordination became one of the most important tasks of supply chain management in the 2000s (Um & Kim, 2019).

Supply chain coordination offers a wide range of solutions for aligning members' processes. Some of the coordination tools can be grouped into soft and hard factors. Soft factors are solutions that are approached from a behavioural science perspective, such as dominance issues, the level of trust in partner relationships, or the willingness to share information (Hertz & Alfredsson, 2003; Singh & Benyoucef, 2013). These are the characteristics that will be determined by the different corporate characteristics and attitudes. The other large group, the group of hard factors, will investigate and support the financing side of the partnership. This group includes coordination opportunities through different types of contracts, which constrain cooperation within predefined frameworks and rules accepted by both parties and clearly define the sharing of risks and costs (Coltman, 2009; Stamatiou et al., 2019).

Contracts are seen by researchers as a potentially good solution for supply chain coordination. By understanding the conditions of application, advantages and disadvantages of the most commonly used contracts, it is possible to identify situations where individual contracts have a positive impact on coordination between members.

1.4 Hypotheses

According to the research questions, the first two hypotheses are related to the first research question, the third, fourth and fifth hypotheses are related to the second research question. No hypothesis has been assigned to the second research question on its own, as the sub-questions formulate this research question in more detail and precision. Thus, within the second research question, the third and fourth are related to the first sub-question and the fifth to the second sub-question. The sixth and seventh hypotheses relate to the Hamradik research question. Thus, the first four hypotheses focus on the exploration of partnership characteristics, including soft factors, while the last three hypotheses focus on contract types

and on the examination of contracts that can be used to improve partnerships. The hypotheses of the thesis are summarised in Figure 1.

Research question	Number of Hypothesis	<u>Hypotheses</u>	
	Н1	Price dominates the choice of partners (contractors).	
1.	Н2	Distinct patterns of firm behaviour can be identified based on the strength of influence of partner selection factors.	
2.1	Н3	The manufacturing firms in the sample show a lower propensity to cooperate than suppliers.	
2.1.	Н4	The small and medium-sized enterprises in the sample show a greater propensity to cooperate in the longer term than in the shorter term.	
2.2.	Н5	Contract types that explicitly support cooperation are more frequently used than contracts with decentralized components.	
3.	Н6	Improving coordination requires the use and harmonisation of contracts as hard factors and the various soft factors (willingness to share information, willingness to take risks, trust).	
J.	Н7	Different contracts can be assigned to the groups formed by the behaviour patterns of firms.	

Figure 1: Hypotheses (own editing – based on literature)

2. Research methodology

The types of contracts used in this thesis were identified by the using PRISMA procedure. PRISMA is an acronym for Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic reviews and Meta-Analyses. The procedure can be applied to literature searches, systematically narrowing down the relevant literature based on a predefined topic (Moher et al., 2009; Wittorski, 2012).

In the practice of this thesis, this means that I used the detailed search engine of the ScienceDirect peer-reviewed article database to find articles with keywords that included the English term for various supply chain contracts. To do this, the first step was to find the types of contracts associated with the supply chain. The contracts defined by the literature on supply chain coordination were collected, and the next step was to search for each type. This became the first step in the PRISMA process. I narrowed down the search, and for the results I had already examined the relevance of the articles to supply chain coordination. Based on these, I narrowed down the number of hits to see how relevant the article was to the study of the coordination power of the contract type.

The procedure was carried out in 3 steps, i.e. in 3 steps I narrowed down the number of hits in terms of their relation to supply chain coordination.

To gain a better understanding of the conditions of application of contracts, I have used contract modelling to show which contracts can be used effectively in which situations. In this way, the advantages and disadvantages of each contract could be identified and quantified, which will greatly help in the selection of contracts that are precisely suited to each situation.

In order to identify the factors influencing the choice of partner and to map their influence, I used a questionnaire survey. After preparing the questionnaire, I compiled a database in the first four months of 2021. This database contained the contact details of companies that were relevant to the research topic, as the target group consisted of companies that are mostly involved in logistics activities - suppliers in different industrial fields, various production companies, distributors, retailers, wholesalers, forwarding and various logistics service providers. The aim of the questionnaire survey was to assess the most important factors that have a strong influence on the establishment of a partnership. My aim was to define the aspects that shape the content of each cooperation agreement. To overcome the pandemic and physical constraints, the research was conducted online using the EvaSys survey management system.

Regarding the structure of the questionnaire, it can be grouped into three large parts (Figure 2).

	<u>CONTENTS</u>	GOAL	TYPE OF QUESTION	METHOD OF ANALYSIS
1	General questions concerning the company	Getting to know the questionnaire respondents	- Closed question - Open question	- Descriptive statistical methods
2	Supply chain issues	Understanding the business environment, supply chain and the impact of factors defined as the consequences of inadequate information flows	- Five degree scale question - Closed question	- Descriptive statistical methods
3	Questions about partnerships	To know the factors influencing the choice of partner as defined by the respondent and their influencing power	- Five degree scale question - Open question	- Descriptive statistical methods - Cross-tab analysis - Cluster analysis

Figure 2: Structure of the questionnaire survey (own editing)

The questionnaire was launched in May 2021 and ran until October. The database was partly my own collection (compiled using the opten and crefoport online company database) and partly using previous address lists. I strictly followed the principles of GDPR when conducting the survey. 98 evaluable completions were obtained.

The research sample consists mainly of micro, small and medium-sized enterprises, mainly domestically owned, but also involved in international trade, and mostly active in the manufacturing sector. Half of the respondents defined their own company as a manufacturing company, with a large number of suppliers and freight forwarders (or logistics service providers) also included in the sample. The study only specifically defined suppliers as companies supplying raw materials and semi-finished products.

Data extracted from the questionnaire survey were analysed using the SPSS program. Based on a lengthy examination of the responses of the 98 companies included in the analysis, cluster analysis led to an acceptable result.

3. Research results

3.1. Results of PRISMA and the questionnaire survey

At the end of the PRISMA process, I identified 6 contracts that appear in the literature with varying frequency. They are, in descending order, the following:

Wholesale pricing > Revenue-sharing contract > Quantity discount / Flexible quantity discount > Take-or-pay > Buy-back contract > Trade credit

For further research, I have narrowed down the results obtained in terms of which contracts can really be used to improve coordination. Thus, I excluded trade credit from the list of contracts obtained, and I did not include flexible volume pricing and volume discount type contracts separately.

In analysing the questionnaire survey data, I used cluster analysis to group the companies according to their preferred form of cooperation. Thus, different clusters could be formed within the sample based on the strength and relevance of the factors influencing partner choice in different behavioural patterns (Figure 3).

CLUSTER 1.	CLUSTER 2.	CLUSTER 3.	CLUSTER 4.
Those seeking a strategic alliance	Those seeking a cooperative relationship	Those seeking a minimum cooperative relationship with direct partners	Those seeking a casual market relationship

Figure 3: The identified clusters and their names (own editing)

The clustering factor was the degree of influence of partner choice factors. In addition, dominance also shaped the results to a lesser extent. An interesting result is that where there is no dominance in the chain, only direct chain members tend to have minimal cooperative relationships. Another surprising result is that clusters 1 and 4 are equally dominated by producer and supplier firms, yet two contrasting groups emerge. In cluster 1, there were signs of a strategic alliance, where companies operate or would like to operate in a form of cooperation based on mutual benefits and longer-term cooperation, where they share resources and are integrated, even virtually, through an integrated management system. Cluster 4, on the contrary, does not support any longer-term cooperation, on the contrary - only occasional market linkages are preferred according to the responses. The similarity between these two clusters lies in the fact that both groups have a higher proportion of small producers and service providers. Clusters 2 and 3 favour a cooperative relationship, the difference between them being that Cluster 3 would establish this form of inter-firm relationship with direct partners only at a minimum level. So it would use a weaker type of cooperative relationship, while cluster 2 would use a much more stable cooperation. This may be due to the fact that cluster 3 is composed of micro-enterprises operating as service providers, a type of cooperation with its immediate environment being preferred. Another differentiation is that cluster 2 has a higher producer

dominance, which has a positive effect in this respect, as it would imply that a producer-dominated supply chain would also seek to establish a cooperative relationship.

The analyses show that it is indeed true that production and manufacturing companies dominate supply chains. However, in some cases this dominance can have a positive impact on the chain by supporting cooperation, but in other cases it is the other way round, with the dominant players using their dominance to shape cooperation on their own terms and mainly by establishing only occasional market links.

On the basis of this information, a dominant but cooperative producing company cannot be offered the same contract as a dominant but casual producing company. Contracts aim at reducing the frictions between firms, which optimally fits the individual attitudes of the firms. If a producer is dominant but does not even seek a minimum cooperative relationship, it cannot be expected to use a contract that requires a high degree of information sharing or joint decision making.

By means of the questionnaire research and the processing of the literature on contract types, I have created the basis for a model that is also suitable for counselling. One of the popular hard factors of supply chain coordination, contract types can be used to improve cooperation and coordination between individual chain members and partner firms, provided that members choose the right contract according to their own attitudes and preferred relationship type. This would be helped by the matrix, which, using the results of quantitative research, would classify the different types of contracts into groups according to the characteristics identified therein, which would improve coordination between members due to the conditions of use and the benefits based on their use.

To interpret the matrix, it is necessary to know the notations used in the matrix - this is summarised in Figure 4.

<u>NOTATION</u>	SUBSCRIPTION	<u>MEANING</u>
X	LESS RECOMMENDED	only a limited ability to deal with coordination problems
XX	RECOMMENDED	handles coordination problems well
XXX	HIGHLY RECOMMENDED	minimise or even eliminate coordination problems

Figure 4: Notations used in the matrix (own editing)

An "X" will indicate the minimum positive effect. It is worth addressing this, as even if only minimally, if coordination between members is improved, the operational indicators and cost factors may improve. "XX" indicates the preferred application, which already has a substantial positive impact on the members' operations, and thus represents a recommendation to apply the contract in question. 'XXX' will indicate the maximum level of adaptation to the situation, the group and its attitudes, so this will indicate the explicitly recommended use of the contracts.

After analysing a	nd combining	the data, th	e matrix	could be c	onstructed (Figure 5).

		low	Level of integro	ation required	high
	GROUPS	Casual market relationship	Minimum cooperative relationship with direct partners	Cooperative relationship	Strategic alliance
	CONTRACTS	No cooperative attitude	Low level of cooperative attitude	High level of cooperative attitude	Expectionally high level of cooperation
low	Take-or-pay	XX			
	Wholesale pricing (decentralized)	X	X		
ooperation	Quantity discount	XX	XX	XX	
Level of support for cooperation	Flexible quantity discount		X	XXX	XX
evel of sup	Buy-back contract				XX
Le	Wholesale pricing (centralized)		XX	XXX	X
high	Revenue-sharing contract			XX	XXX

Figure 5: Contract-choosing matrix (own editing)

Using the matrix in Figure 5, I assigned the contract types that best fit the attitudes defined for the clusters. The strategic alliance cluster opts for a form of long-term cooperation based on mutual benefits, in which case companies also share resources to achieve a common goal (Balaton & Hortoványi, 2018). Here, members need contracts that allow for stronger integration between members. In the case of the cooperative relationship group, a looser committed relationship between partners is assumed. Here, the time horizon of the relationship is shorter, but not specific to a particular case (Besanko et al, 2004). Thus, for this group, contracts should be chosen that are able to strengthen coordination between the two companies, but do not necessarily require a higher degree of vertical integration. The group of those seeking a minimum cooperative relationship with their direct partners would prefer a cooperation that is not too strong already than the occasional market relationship. Contracts where integration with the direct partner is not an option should be considered here. The willingness to share information is low and the willingness to take risks is low, so that the range of contracts that can be offered is well defined. The group of those seeking a casual market relationship has the lowest propensity to cooperate and share information. They are not in favour of integration, they do not prefer any joint activities, and they do not even favour cooperation with direct partners. This is a typical characteristic of casual market relationships (Besanko et al, 2004). Thus, this group should be offered types of contracts that do not necessarily seek vertical integration - i.e. centralization - of the entire chain. For this group, it is necessary to offer contracts that can manage a chain in a decentralized arrangement, thus reducing conflicts of interest and coordinating the relationship between the partners according to expectations.

3.2. Testing hypotheses and forumlating theses

Drawing on the literature and empirical research, I tested the hypotheses formulated, the results of which are summarised in Figure 6.

Number of Hypothesis	<u>Hypotheses</u>	
H1	Price dominates the choice of partners (contractors).	ACCEPTED
Н2	Distinct patterns of firm behaviour can be identified based on the strength of influence of partner selection factors.	ACCEPTED
НЗ	The manufacturing firms in the sample show a lower propensity to cooperate than suppliers.	REJECTED
Н4	The small and medium-sized enterprises in the sample show a greater propensity to cooperate in the longer term than in the shorter term.	REJECTED
Н5	Contract types that explicitly support cooperation are more frequently used than contracts with decentralized components.	ACCEPTED
Н6	Improving coordination requires the use and harmonisation of contracts as hard factors and the various soft factors (willingness to share information, willingness to take risks, trust).	ACCEPTED
Н7	Different contracts can be assigned to the groups formed by the behaviour patterns of firms.	PARTIALLY ACCEPTED

Figure 6: Results of hypothesis testing (own editing)

Based on the hypothesis test, I formulated the theses of the thesis.

T1 Clearly, settlement prices between partners are a strong determinant of the choice of partners.

Thesis 1 identifies the strongest partner selection factor; this became the settlement price between partners. It is based on the hypothesis that the primary criterion for partner selection will be price, which, depending on the position in the supply chain, can be unit price, market price - in short, clearing price. Hypothesis H1 was confirmed on the basis of my sample, with most of the companies surveyed (88% of respondents) indicating price as the strongest factor of influence.

Patterns of cooperation can be grouped according to the different strengths of influence of the associated partner selection factors: those seeking strategic alliances, those seeking cooperative relationships, those seeking minimal cooperative relationships with direct partners, and those seeking casual market relationships.

Soft coordination factors as determinants of partner choice have different strengths of influence in different groups of patterns, which allows for a good distinction between patterns of firm behaviour. The cluster analysis led to results based on these clustering characteristics. That is, the level of prices, the share of risk sharing in addition to delivery and payment terms, the importance of common integrated processes such as common decision making mechanisms, common planning procedures, the use of integrated corporate governance, common inventory management, the willingness to share information, emerged as partner selection factors with different influencing power in each cluster. These factors were assessed differently by each group and four different behavioural patterns could be isolated using cluster analysis. For those seeking a strategic alliance, it is important that the partner supports integrated processes linking the companies and has a high willingness to share information. The group that supports cooperative relations has a medium level of expectation for common processes and a medium level of willingness to share information. The cluster of those who wanted to have a minimal cooperative relationship with their direct partners considered only demand management and joint sales planning and management as important common processes; this was also only expected from the direct partners of the company. For the group of those seeking a more casual market relationship, the need for joint processes is completely neglected, and the willingness to share information is low from the company's point of view, and the organisation does not expect this attitude from its partner. Hypothesis H2 is thus confirmed.

The willingness of companies to cooperate is not affected by their role in the chain.

Thus, it is equally possible for a producer, a supplier, a distributor, a retailer, a wholesaler or any logistics service provider to have a higher and a lower propensity to cooperate.

According to hypothesis H3, firms in the production role in the chain have a lower propensity to cooperate than firms in the supply role. Hypothesis H3 is not supported by the questionnaire survey and cluster analysis information and cannot be confirmed. This means that there is no relationship between the degree of cooperation and the role in the chain. This claim is formulated in thesis 3.

There is no relationship between the size of the company and its level of cooperation.

The degree of cooperation is not affected by whether the company is large, small or medium-sized or micro.

Hypothesis H4 was also not supported, so its refutation led to the development of Hypothesis 4. According to hypothesis H4, SMEs are more willing to cooperate in the longer term than in the shorter term. Questionnaire research, cluster analysis and a cross-tabulation analysis of the relationship between cluster membership and firm size did not support the hypothesis.

According to the PRISMA procedure, contracts with a higher degree of cooperation are more popular than those with a lower degree of cooperation. To support cooperation, these types of contracts are able to achieve a higher level of centralization or vertical integration, and therefore there will be a higher level of cooperation between members using this type of contract. These types of contracts tend to be centralized and thus contain centralized components, whereas the types requiring a lower degree of cooperation contain mostly decentralized components.

Hypothesis 5 is based on hypothesis H5, which already addressed research question 2, i.e. it focused on contract types and their potential to improve partnership coordination. For the hypothesis testing, I used the results of the PRISMA procedure, which identified the most popular types of contracts, with the types that were most likely to promote cooperation being the first ones to be identified. Hypothesis H5 was thus supported by the information obtained, which allowed the formulation of Hypothesis 5.

Aligning the hard and soft factors is an essential condition for improving coordination between partners. In the present situation, the hard factors are contracts, while the soft factors are corporate attitudes and characteristics. In order to improve and support coordination between partners, it is necessary to identify the characteristics and expectations of the partners and to apply the different contracts accordingly.

Thesis 6 focuses on the relationship between hard and soft factors. The basis for the statement of this thesis is that, as stated in hypothesis H6, the use of contracts alone is not sufficient to achieve proper coordination. It has to be done by taking into account the characteristics and attitudes of the contracting parties related to the soft factors. Only in this way will it be possible to assign the contract best suited to them and to their preferred partnership, which will then have a real positive impact on coordination.

Contracts used by strategic alliance seekers: centralized wholesale pricing, revenue-sharing contract, flexible volume discount, buy-back contract.

Contracts applicable to cooperative parties: centralized wholesale pricing, revenue-sharing contract, quantity discount, flexible quantity discount.

T7 Contracts that can be used by those seeking minimum cooperation with direct partners: decentralized and centralized wholesale pricing, quantity discount, flexible quantity discount.

Contracts used by those seeking a casual market relationship: decentralized wholesale pricing, quantity discount, take-or-pay contract.

The partially accepted hypothesis H7 is the basis for thesis 7. The cluster analysis applied to the questionnaire survey identified 4 clusters. For each cluster, it was possible to identify the behaviours and patterns that helped to determine the preferred form of cooperation, and thus to know the influencing power of the associated partner selection factors. Contracts could be assigned to these forms of cooperation on the basis of knowledge of their conditions of application, advantages and disadvantages. It is not the case, however, that only one or two contracts can be assigned to a cluster which are no longer applicable to other clusters. There is overlap, so that a single contract may support several forms of partnership. The matrix is based on these findings and they form the basis for thesis 7.

4. Summary

Supply chain management is one of today's dynamically evolving and increasingly important disciplines. As the literature review shows, in the 21st century, business is no longer dominated by traditional supply chains, but these chains have become much more complex and complex networks, with an increasing number of chain members. Rather than being geographically concentrated in one country, supply chains are becoming more interconnected across continents, with the flow of materials and information between companies. This is a key mission and task of supply chain management. Negative impacts in recent years, such as the pandemic COVID-19 or the Russian-Ukrainian war, have posed huge challenges to supply chain management. In my opinion, it is therefore important and relevant to address the issue of supply chain coordination.

There are many tools available to the sector to ensure and strengthen coordination between its members. At international level, many researchers are concerned about the issue of coordination with contract types. The aim of this thesis was also to help companies to select the contract or contracts that best fit their own attitudes and preferred inter-company relations by creating a model for decision support based on an analysis of contract types. Contract types fall into the category of so-called hard factors, but in my opinion there are certain soft factors that cannot be ignored when coordinating with contract types. One such factor is the question of dominance, because this factor will not only influence the design of the contract terms, but will also narrow down the range of possible contracts. But we must also bear in mind the various motivational factors, such as the link between the willingness to share information and trust, or the willingness to take risks. The literature review identified and described the most commonly used contracts. This was done in order to define the conditions of use of each type and the positive and negative effects of their use on coordination between members. The impact of market demand uncertainties on the possibilities of using each contract, the extent to which dominance influences contract choice and the overall ability of each contract to improve coordination in a given situation were identified. I have used an example to quantify the coordinating power of the contracts to make them more comparable. This served as a pillar for recommending contracts for the model. The other pillar was the data and information extracted from the online questionnaire survey, which examined the partner selection factors of companies and defined their influencing power to identify the preferred forms of cooperation. This made it possible to create a matrix, which assigns to each group a type of contract that facilitates coordination to a greater or lesser extent on the basis of the characteristics identified. This is a kind of recommendation, which also includes a checklist of the most important criteria, in order to make a more precise choice. By creating a decision-support matrix, my aim is to make the operation of members of supply chains, which are disadvantaged in many ways today, more efficient and effective by enabling them to select the contract that meets their expectations, thereby enhancing coordination and cooperation between members.

Research question 1 focused on understanding the characteristics of partnerships. The establishment of partnerships within the supply chain is very important, as the higher the level of cooperation between the chain members, the more integration can be achieved, which will basically improve the functioning of the two companies, but indirectly can also improve the performance of the whole supply chain. Therefore, it is an important factor to know the requirements for partnering. A pilot questionnaire survey sample was used to investigate companies' behavioural patterns reflecting the characteristics and attitudes that characterise different partnerships. The sample showed that partner selection factors are different in weight and that these differences can be used to group corporate behaviours, which can in fact be

identified with preferred forms of cooperation. Furthermore, it was found that prices are clearly a strong determinant, but that delivery and payment terms are also relevant factors. Flexible variation in order quantities or the need for fixed order limits do not have a strong influence and do not influence the choice of partner in almost all cases.

The tools that can be used to coordinate supply chains (research question 2) fall into two broad categories. Expectations of the various soft factors are very important, as they can be used to determine their potential for coordination (research question 2.1). The degree of information sharing willingness of firms is important, as is the degree of risk-taking willingness of prospective partners, as these are all indicators of the depth of the potential trust relationship. Joint activities, such as integrated sales planning or virtual connectivity, are also an essential element. These factors make up the range of characteristics of the partnership, which have different influencing power depending on the attitudes of the company. The second major issue is the range of contracts that can be used for supply chain coordination (research question 2.2). In this question, I sought to find out which types of contracts appear most frequently in the literature, since the frequency with which a type appears suggests that it could potentially be a good solution to overcome or improve various coordination problems. I used the PRISMA procedure to identify the contracts. In a three-step research process, I identified and ranked the most frequently occurring contracts and then examined their applicability in supply chain coordination through a deeper analysis. Thus, not all of the types identified in the process were included in further research.

It was also necessary to investigate how the functioning of partnerships with different time horizons could be made more efficient through the use of different types of contracts in supply chains (research question 3). The purpose of contracts is to facilitate coordination between partners, i.e. to align processes and reduce conflicts of interest by setting a framework for cooperation with pre-defined terms and conditions agreed by both parties. Once the partner selection factors are known and their leverage is identified according to the company's attitudes, knowledge of the conditions of application, advantages and disadvantages of the contracts will help to apply a contract that fits the company's expectations. In this way, the company's attitudes and the opportunities offered by the contracts will be aligned and will complement each other to make the company's operations and the partnership established more effective. The matrix was thus created to answer research question 3. In this model, contracts can be matched to the forms of cooperation identified in the questionnaire research and preferred by companies. The contracts will thus be specifically adapted to the attitudes, characteristics and expectations of the companies, so that they can maximise their coordination-enhancing effect.

Literature used in the thesis booklet

- Balaton K., Hortoványi L. (2018): Stratégiai és üzleti tervezés, Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó
- Besanko, D., Dranove, D., Shanley, M., Schaefer, S. (2004): Economics of strategy, New Jersey: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- Cai, Y-J., Coi, T-S., Zhang, J. (2020): Platform Supported Supply Chain Operations in the Blockchain Era: Supply Contracting and Moral Hazards, Decisions Sciences, Vol. 52, Issue 4, pp. 866-892.
- Chikán A. (2020): Vállalatgazdaságtan, Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó
- Coltman, T., Bru, K., Perm-Ajchariyawong, N., Devinney, T. M., Benito, G. R. (2009): Supply Chain Contract Evolution, European Management Journal, Vol. 27, Issue 6, pp. 388-401.
- Demeter K., Szász L. (2012): Az ellátási láncban elfoglalt pozíció és a szolgálatosodás Üzleti modellek Európában, Vezetéstudomány, 46. évf., 10. szám, pp. 2-18.
- Demeter K., Gelei A., Matyusz Zs., Nagy J. (2022): Tevékenységmenedzsment, Budapest: Akadémiai Kiadó
- Gao, Y., Li, Z., Taghipour, A., Canel, B. (2018): Supply Chain Coordination: A Review, Journal of Advanced Management Science, 6(4), pp. 213-217.
- Goreczky, P. (2022): The Impact of Russia-Ukraine War on the Major Transformation Trends of the Global Economy, KKI Policy Brief Series of the Institute for Foreign Affairs and Trade, KE-2022/28, ISSN 2416-0148
- Hausmann, R. (2020): A globális ellátási álncok átalakulása a feldolgozóiparban a koronavírusjárvány következtében, Hitelintézeti Szemle, 19. évf., 3. sz., pp. 130-153.
- Hertz, S, Alfredsson, M. (2003): Strategic Development of Third Party Logistics Providers, Industrial Marketing Management, Vol. 32, Issue 2, pp. 139-149.
- Lambert, D., Cooper, M. D., Pagh, J. (1998): Supply Chain Management: Implementation Issues and Research Opportunities, The International Journal of Logistics Management, 9. 1-20.
- Li, J., Liu, L. (2006): Supply chain coordination with quantity discount policy, International Journal of Production Economics, Volume 101, Issue 1, May, pp. 89-98.
- Li, J., Luo, X., Wang, Q., Zhou, W. (2021): Supply chain coordination through capacity reservation contract and quantity flexibility contract, Omega, Vol. 99, March, 102195
- Moher, D., Liberati, A., Tetzlaff, J., Altman, D. G. (2009): Preferred Reporting Items for Systematic Reviews and Meta Analyses: The PRISMA Statement, PLoS Medicine 8 (7716), pp. 336-341.

- Porter, M. E. (1985): The Competitive Advantage: Creating and Sustaining Superior Performance, New York: Free Press (Republished with a new introduction, 1998.)
- Pounder, P. (2013). A Review of Supply Chain Management and Its Main External Influential Factors, Supply Chain Forum, 14., pp. 42-50
- Shin, H., Benton, W. C. (2007): A quantity discount approach to supply chain coordination, European Journal of Operational Research, Vol. 180., Issue 2., July, pp. 601-616.
- Singh, R. K., Benyoucef, L. (2013): A consensus based group decision making methodology for strategic selection problems of supply chain coordination, Engineering Applications of Artificial Intelligence 26, pp. 122–134.
- Stamatiou, D. R., Kirytopoulos, K. A., Ponis, S. T., Gayialis, S., Tatsiopoulos, I. (2019): A process reference model for claims management in construction supply chains: the contractors' perspective, International Journal of Construction Management, Vol. 19, Issue 5, pp. 382-400.
- Um, K. H., Kim, S. M. (2019): The effects of supply chain collaboration on performance and transaction cost advantage: the moderation and nonlinear effects of governance mechanisms, International Journal of Production Economics, Vol. 217, pp. 97-111.
- Vipin, B., Amit, R. K. (2021): Wholesale price versus buyback: A comparison of contracts in supply chain with a behavioral retailer, Computers & Industrial Engineering, Vol. 162, December, 107689
- Wittorski, R. (2012): Professionalisation and the Development of Competences in Education and Training, in: Cohen-Scali, V. (ed.): Competence and Competence Development, pp. 17-30.
- Xue, J., Zhang, W., Rasool, Z., Zhou, J. (2022): A review of supply chain coordination management based on bibliometric data, Alexandria Engineering Journal, Vol. 61, Issue 12, pp. 10837-10850.
- Zhang, F. (2011): Supply Chain Coordination, book chapter in: Encyclopedia of Operations Research and Management Science, edited by James J. Cochran, internetes elérhetőség: http://apps.olin.wustl.edu/faculty/Zhang/, letöltve: 2018. 10. 10.

Internet resources:

- CSCMP Bylaws Revised July 2013, pp. 1-2, internetes dokumentum: http://staging.cscmp.org/sites/default/files/user_uploads/footer/downloads/bylaws/cscmp-bylaws.pdf, letöltve: 2019. 02. 18.
- EU Science Hub (2020): Transport sector economic analysis, letöltve: 2020. 08. 04. https://ec.europa.eu/jrc/en/research-topic/transport-sector-economic-analysis
- Enterprise Europe Network (2022): The Supply Chain Resilience (SCR) Platform, letöltve: 2022. 05. 30.

- https://supply-chain-resilience-platform.b2match.io/home
- Európai Bizottság (2015): A mindenki számára előnyös kereskedelem, letöltve: 2022. 05. 30. https://trade.ec.europa.eu/doclib/docs/2016/january/tradoc_154145.pdf
- Európai Bizottság (2022): Globális élelmezésbiztonság, letöltve: 2022. 05. 30. https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/hu/ip_22_1963
- KSH (2020): Központi Statisztikai Hivatal, Gyorstájékoztató, letöltve: 2020. 08. 04. http://www.ksh.hu/docs/hun/xftp/gyor/gdp/gdp1912.html
- The World Bank Data (2020), letöltve: 2020. 08. 01. https://data.worldbank.org/indicator/NE.TRD.GNFS.ZS
- Trademagazin, Evans, M. (2021): Akár 1 billió dolárr is bővülhet a globális kereskedelmi piac 2025-ig, letöltve: 2022. 05. 30. https://trademagazin.hu/hu/akar-1-billio-dollarra-is-bovulhet-a-globalis-kereskedelmi-piac-2025-ig/

Author's relevant publications

Faludi, Tamás (2023): A XXI. századi ellátási láncok kihívásai, In: Veresné Somosi Mariann, Lipták Katalin, Varga Krisztina (szerk.): Tanulmányok és köszöntők Sikos T. Tamás tiszteletére: A Miskolci Egyetem Gazdaságtudományi Karának Jubileumi tanulmánykötete, Miskolci Magyarország: Miskolci Egyetem Gazdaságtudományi Kar, Veresné Somosi Mariann (2023), pp. 49-55.

Faludi, Tamás (2023): Optimális visszavásárlási ár meghatározása az ellátásilánckoordináció hatékonyságának növelése érdekében, Gradus 10 : 1 Paper; pp. 1-8.

Faludi, Tamás (2021): Összefoglaló az ellátásilánc-menedzsment XXI. században jellemző kutatási területeiről, In: Andráskó, Dóra Diána; Balaton, Károly; Berényi, László; Kucsma, Daniella; Kunos, István; Metszősy, Gabriella (szerk.) Köszöntők és tanulmányok Veresné Professzor Dr. Somosi Mariann 60. születésnapja tiszteletére: A Miskolci Egyetem Gazdaságtudományi Karának Jubileumi tanulmánykötete, Miskolc, Magyarország: Miskolci Egyetem Gazdaságtudományi Kar, Bíbor Kiadó, 179 p. pp. 46-50., 5 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2021): Az ellátásilánc-menedzsment fejlődése, HANTOS PERIODIKA 2. : Klnsz. pp. 73-83. , 11 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2021): Elimination of supply chain coordination's obstructive factors with the help of contracts, In: Dellucci, Romina (szerk.) Proceedings of the 8th International Conference on New Ideas in Management, Economics and Accounting, Budapest, Magyarország: Diamond Scientific Publishing, 118 p. pp. 15-24., 10 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2021): Az ostorcsapás-effektus mérése, illetve hatásának csökkentésére alkalmazható menedzsment megoldások, ÉSZAK-MAGYARORSZÁGI STRATÉGIAI FÜZETEK 18: Klnsz pp. 04-15., 12 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2021): A mennyiségi kedvezmény és a visszavásárlási szerződés ellátási láncon belül történő alkalmazási lehetőségeinek vizsgálata, GRADUS 8 : 1 pp. 153-159. , 7 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2021): Supply Chain Coordination with the Quantity Discount and the Buy-Back Contracts, In: 34th (Eurasia Business and Economics Society) EBES Conference Proceedings Vol. II., Piraeus, Görögország: University of Piraeus, 1 303 p. pp. 1216-1223., 8 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2020): A nagykereskedelmi árszabással működő decentralizált és centralizált ellátási láncok összehasonlító elemzése, LOGISZTIKAI TRENDEK ÉS LEGJOBB GYAKORLATOK VI.: 2. pp. 3-7., 5 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2020): PARTNERKAPCSOLATOK AZ ELLÁTÁSI LÁNCBAN: A DOMINANCIA KÉRDÉSE, HANTOS PERIODIKA 2020 : 1 pp. 14-21. , 8 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2020): Szerződéstípusok stratégiai jelentősége az ellátási lánc tagjainál, ÉSZAK-MAGYARORSZÁGI STRATÉGIAI FÜZETEK 17 : 2 pp. 70-78., 9 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2020): Composite Contracts in Supply Chain, THEORY METHODOLOGY PRACTICE: CLUB OF ECONOMICS IN MISKOLC 16: 1 pp. 3-9., 7 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2019): Az ostorcsapás-effektus hatása az ellátásilánc-koordinációra, ECONOMICA (SZOLNOK) Évf. 10 szám 3-4 pp. 18-23., 6 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2018): A decentralizált megjelenési forma sajátosságai az ellátási láncot koordináló szerződéstípusokban, In: Kékesi, Tamás (szerk.) Doktoranduszok Fóruma 2018: A Gazdaságtudományi Kar szekciókiadványa: Miskolc, Miskolc, Magyarország: Miskolci Egyetem Tudományos és Nemzetközi Rektorhelyettesi Titkárság, pp. 15-21., 7 p.

Molnár, Viktor ; Faludi, Tamás (2019): Comparison of supply-chain coordinating contract types, In: Nemec, Radek; Chytilova, Lucie (szerk.) Proceedings of the 13th International Conference on Strategic Management and its Support by Information Systems: (SMSIS 2019), Ostrava, Csehország : VSB-Technical University of Ostrava, 425 p. pp. 60-67. Paper: SA/35 , 8 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2018): A SZERZŐDÉSTÍPUSOKKAL TÖRTÉNŐ ELLÁTÁSI LÁNC KOORDINÁCIÓS LEHETŐSÉGEK ÁTTEKINTÉSE, In: Keresztes, Gábor (szerk.) Tavaszi Szél 2018 Konferencia = Spring Wind 2018: Konferenciakötet II., Budapest, Magyarország: Doktoranduszok Országos Szövetsége (DOSZ), 563 p. pp. 362-369., 8 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2018): Szerződéstípusokkal történő ellátáslánc-koordináció összehasonlító elemzése, In: Bodzás, Sándor; Antal, Tamás (szerk.) Műszaki Tudomány az Észak-Kelet Magyarországi Régióban: konferencia előadásai, Debrecen, Magyarország : Debreceni Akadémiai Bizottság Műszaki Szakbizottság, 442 p. pp. 84-91., 8 p.

Molnár, Viktor; Faludi, Tamás; Musinszki, Zoltán (2018): Profit allocation in supply chains on the basis of revenue-sharing rates, 4th International Conference on Mechanical and Transportation Engineering (ICMTE'18), Paris, 13-15 April

Molnár, Viktor ; Musinszki, Zoltán ; Faludi, Tamás (2018): AHP-alapú döntési modell ellátásilánc-koordináció támogatására, A gazdaságtudományok határtalansága c. tudományos konferencia, Miskolc, A MAB Közgazdaságtudományi Szakbizottságának és a Miskolci Egyetem Gazdaságtudományi Karának a Magyar Tudomány Ünnepe tiszteletére tartott közös konferenciájára

Molnár, Viktor; Musinszki, Zoltán, ; Faludi, Tamás (2018): Profit allocation in supply chains on the basis of revenue-sharing rates, INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL OF ECONOMICS AND MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS 3 pp. 47-52., 6 p.

Molnár, Viktor ; Musinszki, Zoltán, ; Faludi, Tamás (2018): AHP-Based Decision-Making Model for Supply Chain Coordination by a Modified Revenue-Sharing Contract Type, WSEAS TRANSACTIONS ON BUSINESS AND ECONOMIC 15, pp. 273-281. Paper: Art. #26, 9 p.

Faludi, Tamás; Molnár, Viktor (2017): Az ellátásilánc-koordinációhoz kapcsolódó stratégiai döntéstámogatási területek, In: Bodzás, Sándor (szerk.) Műszaki Tudomány az Észak-Kelet Magyarországi Régióban: konferencia előadásai, Debrecen, Magyarország: Debreceni Akadémiai Bizottság Műszaki Szakbizottság, 630 p. pp. 98-104., 7 p.

Molnár Viktor ; Faludi, Tamás (2017): A supply chain coordination model with fair revenue-sharing rates, In: Bezpartochnyi, M (szerk.) Transformation of international economic relations : modern challenges, risks, opportunities and prospects, Riga, Lettország : ISMA University of Applied Sciences, 296 p. pp. 194-203. , 11 p.

Other publications of the author

Orosz Dániel; Faludi, Tamás (2022): Management solutions for smart logistics in smart cities, In: Veresné Somosi Mariann, Lipták Katalin, Harangozó Zsolt (szerk.): "Mérleg és Kihívások – Fenntarthatóság" XII Nemzetközi Tudományos Konferencia: Konferenciakötet, Miskolc-Egyetemváros, Magyarország: Miskolci Egyetem Gazdaságtudományi Kar (2022), pp. 711-717.

Faludi, Tamás (2022): SCM 4.0: Not Just an Opportunity; It Is a Need: Chapter 2In: Alfaro-Saiz, Juan-Jose; Rodriguez-Rodriguez, Raul; Leon, Ramona Diana (szerk.) Increasing Supply Chain Performance in Digital Society Hershey (PA), Amerikai Egyesült Államok: IGI Global 379 p. pp. 24-43., 20 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2020): Measurement and Reduction of the Bullwhip Effect, In: Proceedings of the 11th International Conference on Modern Research in Management, Economics and Accounting (MEACONF), Oxford, Egyesült Királyság / Anglia : Diamond Scientific Publishing, Paper: 10138, 11 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2020): A lean stratégia alkalmazása az ellátási láncon belül, In: Horváth, Bálint; Kápolnai, Zsombor; Földi, Péter (szerk.) Közgazdász Doktoranduszok és Kutatók VI. Nemzetközi Téli Konferenciája: Konferenciakötet, Budapest, Magyarország: Doktoranduszok Országos Szövetsége (DOSZ), 373 p. pp. 83-90., 8 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2020): CHARACTERISTICS OF THE GREEN SUPPLY CHAIN COORDINATION: THEORETICAL CONTRIBUTION TO USE THE WHOLESALE PRICING CONTRACT IN THE GREEN SUPPLY CHAIN, ORADEA JOURNAL OF BUSINESS AND ECONOMICS 5 : Special Issue pp. 135-143., 9 p.

Metszősy, Gabriella ; Faludi, Tamás (2020): Decision Support Opportunities in the Green Supply Chain Coordination, EUROPEAN JOURNAL OF ECONOMICS AND BUSINESS STUDIES 6 : 2 pp. 87-95., 9 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2019): CHARACTERISTICS OF THE COORDINATON OF GREEN SUPPLY CHAINS, In: Veresné Somosi, M. (szerk.) "MÉRLEG ÉS KIHÍVÁSOK" XI. NEMZETKÖZI TUDOMÁNYOS KONFERENCIA Ph.D. szekciók tanulmánykötete, Miskolc, Magyarország: Miskolci Egyetem Gazdaságtudományi Kar, pp. 54-60., 7 p.

Faludi, Tamás (2019): Coordination of Green Supply Chain with the Help of Wholesale Pricing Contract, In: Badulescu, Alina (szerk.) Emerging Markets Economics and Business. Contributions of Young Researchers. Proceedings of the 10th International Conference of Doctoral Students and Young Researchers: No. 7- December 2019, Oradea, Románia: University of Oradea Press, pp. 152-156., 5 p.